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Ashby Heritage Review Stage 2, January 2010 
Section 11: Individual Citations

11.7 Former Ropeworks Substation & Dining Hall
Address: 2 Waratah Street, Geelong West
Construction Date: c.1914-15, 1942
Proposed Level of Significance: Local
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Former Ropeworks Substation Building, 2 Waratah Street, Geelong West, 2009.
11.7.1
Statement of Significance
The former M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Ropeworks electric substation and dining hall buildings, 2 Waratah Street, Geelong West, have significance as a rare example of surviving early 20th century industrial infrastructure and as a physical legacy of a once vast ropeworks complex.  The electric substation building appears to have been built by 1914-15 as part of the major remodelling and upgrading of the ropeworks factory.  It survives as the only known early 20th century electric substation building in Geelong West and potentially the wider Geelong area.  The former dining hall was built in 1942 and served both the day and night shift employees of M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Ropeworks as a canteen for hot meals and as an important facility for staff recreational activities.  The electric substation building is predominantly intact and appears to be in fair-good condition.  The dining hall has suffered vandalism and weather deterioration, and is moderately intact and in fair condition.
The former electric substation building, 2 Waratah Street, is architecturally and scientifically significant at a LOCAL level (AHC D.2, E.1, F.1).  It is a rare and locally striking example of early 20th century industrial design associated with electrical infrastructure in Geelong West from c.1914-15.  The design qualities that contribute to its significance include the parapeted vertical pavilion on the street boundary, together with a lower gabled wing at the rear, symmetrical composition, face brick wall construction and the corrugated sheet metal roof cladding.  Other intact or appropriate qualities include projecting concrete parapet cornice, five bays of rectangular electrical conductor outlets separated by projecting pilasters, brick corner piers and concrete panels on the front pavilion, and the brick parapeted rear gable with flat parapeted ends supported by corbels, side door opening with a concrete lintel and the timber door.  

The former electric substation building and dining hall at 2 Waratah Street are historically significant at a LOCAL level (AHC A.4).  They are associated with the development, remodelling and progression of the M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Ropeworks complex in the early 20th century and interwar period.  Together with a small section of adjoining rope walk and an industrial building, the electric substation and dining hall are the only physical legacies of this once vast industrial enterprise that was one of the largest employers in Geelong West.
The former ropeworks dining hall at 2 Waratah Street is socially significant at a LOCAL level (AHC G.1).  Although no longer serving its original purpose as a canteen and recreational facility for employees of the ropeworks operation, the building continues to be recognised by some sections of the community for these past associations.

Overall, the former electric substation and dining hall buildings at 2 Waratah Street, Geelong West, are of LOCAL significance.  

11.7.2
Description
The former electrical substation building and ropeworks dining hall are set on a wider than average allotment for the area, compared to the residential blocks nearby.  A high temporary cyclone wire fence surrounds the eastern and southern perimeters of the site.
The symmetrical, elevated single storey, face red brick, early 20th century industrial vernacular electrical substation building is characterised by a parapeted vertical pavilion on the street boundary, together with a lower gabled wing at the rear.  The front pavilion has an early projecting concrete cornice at the base of the parapet, below which are five bays of rectangular electrical conductor outlets separated by projecting pilasters.  The corners of the front pavilion are defined by uninterrupted piers that support the parapet cornice.  A blank concrete panel with a dentillated base is a feature of the front façade, with similar blank panels (but without the dentillations) located on the side façade.  The rear gabled wing has a brick parapeted end, the corners of the parapet being flat and corbelled.  The roof is clad in corrugated sheet metal.  Other early features of the design include the door opening on the west façade, having a concrete lintel and timber door.

The single storey, restrained late interwar Art Deco styled former dining hall building is characterised by an elongated gable roof form, together with a minor gable that projects towards the street frontage and minor wings that project from the west side.  These roof forms are clad in early corrugated asbestos sheeting.  Broad overhangs are features of the eaves.  The building is constructed of cream brick with a red brick dado to window sill height.  
An early and distinguishing feature of the design is the parapeted Art Deco entrance portico on the east façade, whereby the recessed entrance opening is flanked by projecting vertical parapeted pavilions separated by an elevated and rendered bay surmounted by a flagpole.  A curved porch cantilevers above the recessed entrance.  The parapets to the flanking pavilions have vertical window openings that have been infilled.  Other early features include the window openings (now infilled) and the surviving window sill on the east façade of the projecting front gabled wing.  

11.7.3
History
Early History of Donaghy’s Ropeworks
Michael Donaghy established a ropeworks factory in a small shed near the Barwon River at Marnock Vale in 1852.
  In 1873, he relocated his prospering business to a seven-acre site in Pakington Street, Geelong West.
  Known as Donaghy’s Fairview Ropeworks, the establishment was operated by Donaghy and his sons, John and Michael (junior).
  The brick factory (now demolished) was built some time after 1875 and various structures (including the rope walk building) were built at later times.
  
In 1920, M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Ropeworks (Figure 1) featured in The Industrial Australian and Mining Standard, with the following extract published in the Town of Geelong West Souvenir Booklet in 1922:

The present Company was incorporated in 1905.  Two generations have passed away in the creation and development of the works; and Mr. Frank Donaghy, the grandson of the founder, and the son of John, now presides over the concern.  So far, Australia has been able to supply, with minor exceptions, none of the raw materials required for rope and mat-making … The rope-walk is 2500ft. long, and when your correspondent visited the works, there had just been finished a splendid cable of extraordinary strength and beautiful workmanship.  
The binder twine, “Kangaroo Brand”, is another branch of the industry, and is well known throughout the Commonwealth; the mat-factory, in which mats, of various and artistic designs, are made from the coir yarn, is interesting to the visitor …

The firm has its own engineering works, at which everything necessary for the repair and manufacture of its machinery, except the casting, is done.  During the last ten years the factory has been remodelled and enlarged by fully a third, the number of hands by fifty to sixty per cent., and the turnover by upwards of fifty per cent.  A staff of experts is constantly employed improving the machinery, and experimenting, with a view to perfecting methods and increasing production.

The business of the firm extends to all parts of the Commonwealth, and the Pacific Island; it has also a large export trade to Europe and other parts of the world.  The extent of the works at West Geelong may be gauged by the fact that 350 persons are employed there.
  

For a time, the Donaghy’s ropeworks was the biggest single source of employment in Geelong West.

In 1956, alterations to the Pakington Street elevation and offices were carried out by the Geelong architectural firm of Buchan Laird and Buchan.
  The business was subsequently sold to Kinnears,
 and by the late 20th century, the once-thriving ropemaking business had ceased operations.  Apart from the eastern portion of the ropewalk building, substation and canteen, the factory buildings were demolished.  In 2006, the site was transformed into a shopping complex.

Former Ropeworks Substation

Historical research has not been able to ascertain the date when the face brick electric substation building fronting Waratah Street was constructed.  With the incorporation of the M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Company in 1905, and changes in the process and manufacture of rope, it appears that the substation building was constructed in the ensuing years.  The graphic representation of the outline of the substation building on the Geelong Waterworks and Sewerage Trust Detail Plan no. 85 (Figure 2) (initially drawn in c.1912 and revised in later years), suggests that the building had not been shown on the original plan.  Nevertheless, the impetus for an electrical supply in Geelong West came two years earlier in 1910, when the Melbourne Electric Supply Company applied for permission to the Geelong West Borough Council for the erection of overhead electricity wires in the municipality.
  By November 1910, overhead electricity poles were proposed to be installed in Pakington, Spring and Coronation Streets.
  In 1912, public lighting and trams powered by electricity were introduced throughout Geelong West.
  This suggests that the electric substation at the ropeworks site was constructed soon after 1912, at a time when the factory was being remodelled and enlarged.
  With the onset of the First World War in 1914, and the importance of the cordage industry as part of war operations,
 it would appear that the substation had been built by 1914-15.  The building is shown in an aerial photograph of the ropeworks site in 1930 (Figure 3).  
Former Ropeworks Dining Hall
In 1942, M. Donaghy and Sons contracted the builder, W. Kelly to build a dining hall on the ropeworks site, fronting Waratah Street.
  Situated immediately east of the substation building, the estimated cost of the dining hall was £1,000.
  Photographs of the dining hall in 1949 (Figures 4-5) reveal that it was designed in a restrained late interwar manner, having an elongated gable roof form, small gabled wing to the Waratah Street frontage, and a parapeted Art Deco entrance portico along the side.  Internally, there was a coved ceiling, timber floor and raised platform in one corner (Figure 6).  The dining hall included a kitchen were hot meals were served for both day and night shift employees.
  The hall was also used by the employees for dancing and other recreational activities.
  
11.7.4
Comparative Analysis

Substation Building
No other early 20th century suburban electrical substation buildings have been identified in the City of Greater Geelong.  
The early 20th century industrial design of the Geelong West building has an affinity with the Early Commonwealth vernacular styled industrial and defence buildings constructed by the Commonwealth Government prior to and after the First World War.  In particular, the parapeted brick gable of the Geelong West building, with its flat parapeted ends, can be identified on a range of Commonwealth industrial buildings,
 including some of those at the former Federal Woollen Mill, Mackey Street, North Geelong (completed in 1915)
 and the Maribyrnong Defence Site, Melbourne (developed as an explosives factory and remount depot from 1908 until 1945).
  These buildings had been designed by John Smith Murdoch, Commonwealth Architect.
  
A similar parapeted gable structure constructed of brick with flat parapeted ends (but without the front vertical pavilion) was built in 1913 for the Parramatta City Council in New South Wales
 (Figure 7).  Located near the Parramatta road and Ross Street junction, its original purpose was as an ‘electric light and power substation.’

In Victoria, the former North Fitzroy Electric railway Substation building (Figure 8) was built by Swanson Brothers in 1915, as part of the electrification scheme for Melbourne’s suburban railway system.  According to the Victorian Heritage Register online:

It was one of a number of substations in the metropolitan area used to convert 20,000 volt alternating current generated a the Newport power station to a 1,500 volt direct current before it was transmitted to the trains through overhead wires.  These rotary converter substations were gradually replaced by mercury arc rectifier units under a modernisation programme started in 1949.
  

Apart from their similar original function and brick wall construction, the Geelong West building bears little architectural resemblance to the considerably more imposing and articulated early 20th century Renaissance styled substation in Fitzroy North.
11.7.5
Condition

The former electric substation building appears to be in fair-good condition when viewed from the street. 

The former dining hall is in fair condition.
11.7.6
Integrity

Predominantly intact – electric substation building.

Moderately intact – former dining hall.  This building has been subject to vandalism, with the windows and most of the window sills having been removed.    
11.7.7
Recommendations

Heritage Overlay Schedule Controls

External Paint Controls:


Yes – electric substation building
Internal Alteration Controls:

No 
Tree Controls: 



No 

Outbuildings and/or Fences:

No
Prohibited Uses May Be Permitted:
Yes
Extent of Heritage Overlay 

It is recommended that the heritage overlay apply to the whole site.

11.7.8 Historical Figures
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Figure 1: M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Ropeworks, Pakington Street, Geelong West, c.1920.  Source: Proclamation of Geelong West as a Town, souvenir booklet, 1922.  
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Figure 2: Part of Geelong Waterworks & Sewerage Trust Detail Plan no. 85, c.1912 (revd. 1914, 1917 & 1967), showing the electric substation on the Waratah Street boundary, with the dining hall to the immediate east.  Source: Barwon Water collection.  
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Figure 3: Charles Pratt, Aerial photograph of M. Donaghy and Sons Pty Ltd Ropeworks, Geelong West, c.1930.  The location of the substation is shown by the arrow.  Source: La Trobe Picture collection, State Library of Victoria, image b10615.
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Figure 4: Distant view of the Dining Hall (east elevation) with the elevated pavilion of the substation in the background, 1949.  Source: M. Donaghy & Sons Pty Ltd 1852-1952, centenary booklet, M. Donaghy & Sons, Geelong West, 1952.  
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Figure 5: East elevation of dining hall showing a group of employees, March 1949.  Source: M. Donaghy & Sons Pty Ltd 1852-1952, centenary booklet, M. Donaghy & Sons, Geelong West, 1952.   
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Figure 6: Interior of Dining Hall, March 1949.  Source: M. Donaghy & Sons Pty Ltd 1852-1952, centenary booklet, M. Donaghy & Sons, Geelong West, 1952.  
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Figure 7: Electric substation, Parramatta, N.S.W., built in 1913.  Source: ‘Section 170 Register Report: 4726030: Substation No. 54 & Switchroom’, Campus Infrastructure Services, The University of Sydney at www.facilities.usydn.edu.au.
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Figure 8: Former Fitzroy North Electric Railway Substation, built in 1915.  Source: Victorian Heritage Database online.  

11.7.9
Recent Photographs
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	Photo 1: Former electric substation, south and west elevations.  Source: David Rowe, January 2009.
	Photo 2: Former dining hall, east elevation.  Source: David Rowe, January 2009.
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	Photo 3: Former dining hall, east elevation.  Source: David Rowe, January 2009.
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